No. 42425-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, vs.

Jeffrey Strickland,

Appellant.

Grays Harbor County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-00084-5

The Honorable Judge Gordon Godfrey

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant BACKLUND & MISTRY P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF	CONTENTSi
TABLE OF	AUTHORITIESvi
ASSIGNME	NTS OF ERROR 12
ISSUES PEI	RTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 4
STATEMEN	NT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS7
I.	Eugene Savage and Daniel Ivy were shot at Mac's Tavern on February 3, 2011
II.	Mr. Strickland's trial was continued beyond his speedy trial expiration date
III.	The trial court refused to allow Mr. Strickland to present expert testimony on perception, memory, and inflated confidence in eyewitness testimony
IV.	The court repeatedly overruled Mr. Strickland's motion to sever his case from that of his codefendant Kerby, and allowed the prosecution to introduce Kerby's out-of-court statements.
V.	The court's instructions allowed jurors to convict Mr. Strickland as an accomplice, and the judge answered a jury question in chambers without consulting counsel 15
ARGUMEN	Т

	R 3.3
A.	Standard of Review
B. tria	The trial court should not have continued Mr. Strickland's all beyond his speedy trial expiration date
rig dei	c. Strickland was denied his Fourteenth Amendment ht to due process and his constitutional right to present a fense when the trial court denied his request for a ntinuance and excluded the testimony of Dr. Loftus.21
A.	Standard of Review
B. opj	Due process guaranteed Mr. Strickland a meaningful portunity to present his defense
C. Str	The exclusion of Dr. Loftus's testimony denied Mr. ickland his constitutional right to present a defense 23
	The court's decision denying Mr. Strickland's request for ontinuance infringed his constitutional right to present a fense
An ins	c. Strickland's convictions violated his Fourteenth nendment right to due process because the evidence was sufficient to prove he was an accomplice to each crime.
A.	Standard of Review
B. ele	Due process requires the prosecution to prove each ment of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt
eac	The prosecution did not prove that Mr. Strickland acted the knowledge that his actions would promote or facilitate the assault, or that he aided or agreed to aid Kerby in mmitting the assaults

St	ne admission of testimonial hearsay violated Mr. rickland's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to nfrontation
A.	Standard of Review
	Testimonial hearsay is inadmissible at trial unless the clarant is unavailable and the accused person had a prior portunity for confrontation
C. M	The admission of Kerby's testimonial statements violated r. Strickland's confrontation rights
	ne trial court erred by denying Mr. Strickland's verance motion40
A.	Standard of Review
	Severance should have been granted under CrR 4.4(c) cause sanitizing Kerby's statement did not "eliminate any ejudice."
	Severance should have been granted under CrR 4.4(c) cause Kerby and Mr. Strickland presented mutually tagonistic defenses
	r. Strickland was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth mendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.43
A.	Standard of Review
B. ef:	An accused person is constitutionally entitled to the fective assistance of counsel
C. Dı	Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with Loftus in a timely fashion
in	Defense counsel unreasonably failed to raise a clear jection to Kerby's testimonial statements and to request structions prohibiting jurors from using those statements ainst Mr. Strickland

	E. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to instructions allowing conviction under a theory of accomplice liability
VII.	The trial judge violated the "appearance of fairness" doctrine and thereby infringed Mr. Strickland's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process
	A. Standard of Review
	B. Judge Godfrey provided "some" evidence of a potential for bias
VIII.	The trial court violated Mr. Strickland's right to an open and public trial and his right to counsel 51
	A. Standard of Review
	B. The trial court violated both Mr. Strickland's and the public's right to an open and public trial by responding to a jury question in chambers
	C. The trial court violated Mr. Strickland's right to counsel by answering a jury question without consulting counsel. 53
IX.	The accomplice liability statute is overbroad because it criminalizes constitutionally protected speech in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments
	A. Standard of Review
	B. Any person accused of violating an overbroad statute may challenge the constitutionality of the statute on First Amendment grounds; facts are not essential
	C. The accomplice liability statute is overbroad because it criminalizes pure speech that is not directed at inciting imminent lawless action
	D. The Coleman and Ferguson courts applied the wrong legal standard in upholding RCW 9A.08.020, and should be

Х.	Mr. Strickland's sentence must be vacated because the sentencing court failed to properly determine his offender score and standard range
	A. The prosecution produced insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Strickland had an offender score of eight 60
	B. The sentencing court failed to determine whether or not any of Mr. Strickland's prior convictions comprised the same criminal conduct

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coal., 535 U.S. 234, 122 S. Ct. 1389, 152 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2002)
Bracy v. Gramley, 520 U.S. 899, 117 S.Ct. 1793, 138 L. Ed. 2d 97 (1997)60
Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444, 23 L. Ed. 2d 430, 89 S. Ct. 1827 (1969)
Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968)
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973)
Conchatta Inc. v. Miller, 458 F.3d 258 (3rd Cir. 2006)
Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004)
Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454, 101 S.Ct. 1866, 68 L.Ed.2d 359 (1981) 72
Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963)54
Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185, 118 S.Ct. 1151, 140 L.Ed.2d 294 (1998)47
Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006)
Idaho v. Wright, 497 U.S. 805, 110 S.Ct. 3139, 111 L.Ed.2d 638 (1990) 46
In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 75 S. Ct. 623, 99 L. Ed. 942 (1955) 61
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) 42
Mitchell v. United States, 526 U.S. 314, 119 S.Ct. 1307, 143 L.Ed.2d 424 (1999)

Offutt v. United States, 348 U.S. 11, 75 S. Ct. 11, 99 L. Ed. 11 (1954) 61
Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965) 46
Presley v. Georgia, U.S, 130 S.Ct. 721, 175 L.Ed.2d 675 (2010)63
Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 107 S.Ct. 1702, 95 L.Ed.2d 176 (1987)
Smalis v. Pennsylvania, 476 U.S. 140, 106 S. Ct. 1745, 90 L. Ed. 2d 116 (1986)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
United States v. Downing, 753 F.2d 1224 (3d Cir.1985)
United States v. Flynt, 756 F.2d 1352 (9 th Cir. 1985)
United States v. Lankford, 955 F.2d 1545 (11 th Cir. 1992)
United States v. Mayfield, 189 F.3d 895 (9th Cir. 1999)
United States v. Platte, 401 F.3d 1176 (10th Cir. 2005)
United States v. Salemo, 61 F.3d 214 (3 rd Cir., 1995)
United States v. Sebetich, 776 F.2d 412 (3d Cir. 1985)
Virginia v. Hicks, 539 U.S. 113, 156 L. Ed. 2d 148, 123 S. Ct. 2191 (2003)67, 68
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)31
Washington State Cases
Adams v. Hinkle, 51 Wash.2d 763, 322 P.2d 844 (1958)
Bellevue School Dist. v. E.S., 171 Wash.2d 695, 257 P.3d 570 (2011)23, 37, 40, 58, 61, 64
Brister v. Tacoma City Council, 27 Wash. App. 474, 619 P.2d 982 (1980), review denied, 95 Wash.2d 1006 (1981)

Buell v. City of Bremerton, 80 Wash.2d 518, 495 P.2d 1358 (1972) 59
City of Bellevue v. Lorang, 140 Wash.2d 19, 992 P.2d 496 (2000) 24, 41
City of Seattle v. Holifield, 170 Wash. 2d 230, 240 P.3d 1162 (2010) 48
City of Seattle v. Webster, 115 Wash.2d 635, 802 P.2d 1333 (1990), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 908, 111 S.Ct. 1690, 114 L.Ed.2d 85 (1991) 66, 67
Dimmel v. Campbell, 68 Wash.2d 697, 414 P.2d 1022 (1966) 60
In re Cadwallader, 155 Wash.2d 867, 123 P.3d 456 (2005) 73, 74, 78
In re Detention of Anderson, 166 Wash.2d 543, 211 P.3d 994 (2009) 38
In re Detention of Post, 145 Wash.App. 728, 187 P.3d 803 (2008) 73
In re Fleming, 142 Wash.2d 853, 16 P.3d 610 (2001) 50
Miller v. Likins, 109 Wash.App. 140, 34 P.3d 835 (2001)
OPAL v. Adams County, 128 Wash.2d 869, 913 P2d. 793 (1996) 60
Philippides v. Bernard, 151 Wash.2d 376, 88 P.3d 939 (2004) 27, 28, 32
Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors, 168 Wash.2d 664, 230 P.3d 583 (2010) 26
State v. A.N.J., 168 Wash. 2d 91, 225 P.3d 956 (2010)
State v. Anderson, 72 Wash.App. 453, 864 P.2d 1001 (1994)
State v. Berube, 150 Wash. 2d 498, 79 P.3d 1144, 1151 (2003) 38, 57
State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wash.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) 6, 61, 63
State v. Bonisisio, 92 Wash.App. 783, 964 P.2d 1222 (1998)
State v. Brightman, 155 Wash.2d 506, 122 P.3d 150 (2005)
State v. Brooks, 149 Wash. App. 373, 203 P.3d 397 (2009)
State v. Burke, 163 Wash.2d 204, 181 P.3d 1 (2008)
State v. Cheatam. 150 Wash. 2d 626, 81 P.3d 830 (2003) 27, 32, 33

State v. Clausing, 147 Wash. 2d 620, 56 P.3d 550 (2002)
State v. Coleman, 155 Wash.App. 951, 231 P.3d 212 (2010), review denied, 170 Wash.2d 1016, 245 P.3d 772 (2011)
State v. Dent, 123 Wash. 2d 467, 869 P.2d 392 (1994)
State v. Depaz, 165 Wash.2d 842, 204 P.3d 217 (2009)
State v. Dolen, 83 Wash.App. 361, 921 P.2d 590 (1996), review denied, 131 Wash.2d 1006, 932 P.2d 644 (1997)
State v. Dow, 162 Wash. App. 324, 253 P.3d 476 (2011)
State v. Duckett, 141 Wash.App. 797, 173 P.3d 948 (2007)
State v. Dugan, 96 Wash.App. 346, 979 P.2d 85 (1999)
State v. Early, 70 Wash.App. 452, 458, 853 P.2d 964 (1993)
State v. Easterling, 157 Wash.2d 167, 137 P.3d 825 (2006)
State v. Elliott, 121 Wash.App. 404, 88 P.3d 435 (2004)
State v. Emery,, Wash.2d, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)
State v. Engel, 166 Wash.2d 572, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009)
State v. Ferguson, 164 Wash.App. 370, 264 P.3d 575 (2011) 70, 71, 72
State v. Fisher, 165 Wash.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009)
State v. Gurrola, 69 Wash.App. 152, 848 P.2d 199, review denied, 121 Wash.2d 1032, 856 P.2d 383 (1993)
State v. Haddock, 141 Wash.2d 103, 3 P.3d 733 (2000)
State v. Harell, 80 Wash. App. 802, 911 P.2d 1034 (1996)
State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wash.2d 61, 917 P.2d 563 (1996)
State v. Horton, 136 Wash. App. 29, 146 P.3d 1227 (2006)
State v. Hudson, 150 Wash.App. 646, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009)

State v. Immelt, 173 Wash. 2d 1, 267 P.3d 305 (2011)
State v. Iniguez, 167 Wash.2d 273, 217 P.3d 768 (2009)
State v. Jasper, 174 Wash. 2d 96, 271 P.3d 876 (2012)
State v. Jones, 110 Wash.2d 74, 750 P.2d 620 (1988)
State v. Kenyon, 167 Wash. 2d 130, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009)
State v. Kirwin, 165 Wash.2d 818, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009) 40, 64
State v. Knippling, 166 Wash.2d 93, 206 P.3d 332 (2009)
State v. Kronich, 160 Wash.2d 893, 161 P.3d 982 (2007)
State v. Larry, 108 Wash. App. 894, 34 P.3d 241 (2001)
State v. Lord, 161 Wash.2d 276, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007)
State v. Madry, 8 Wash. App. 61, 504 P.2d 1156 (1972)
State v. Maupin, 128 Wash.2d 918, 913 P.2d 808 (1996)
State v. Mehaffey, 125 Wash. App. 595, 105 P.3d 447 (2005)
State v. Mendoza, 165 Wash.2d 913, 205 P.3d 113 (2009)
State v. Michielli, 132 Wash. 2d 229, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)
State v. Momah, 167 Wash.2d 140, 217 P.3d 321 (2009)
State v. Nguyen, 165 Wash.2d 428, 197 P.3d 673 (2008)
State v. Njonge, 161 Wash.App. 568, 255 P.3d 753 (2011)
State v. Porter, 133 Wash.2d 177, 942 P.2d 974 (1997)
State v. Poulsen, 45 Wash. App. 706, 726 P.2d 1036 (1986)
State v. Purdom, 106 Wash.2d 745, 725 P.2d 622 (1986)
State v. Rafay, Wash.App, P.3d (2012) 18

State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wash.2d 126, 101 P.3d 80 (2004) 52, 55, 57, 58
State v. Russell, 171 Wash.2d 118, 249 P.3d 604 (2011)
State v. Saunders, 153 Wash. App. 209, 220 P.3d 1238 (2009) 19, 22
State v. Saunders, 91 Wash.App. 575, 958 P.2d 364 (1998) 55, 57
State v. Sims, 171 Wash. 2d 436, 256 P.3d 285 (2011)
State v. Strode, 167 Wash.2d 222, 217 P.3d 310 (2009)
State v. Sublett, 156 Wash.App. 160, 231 P.3d 231, review granted, 170 Wash.2d 1016, 245 P.3d 775 (2010)
State v. Taylor, 50 Wash. App. 481, 749 P.2d 181 (1988)
State v. Ulestad, 127 Wash. App. 209, 111 P.3d 276 (2005)
State v. Vincent, 131 Wash. App. 147, 120 P.3d 120 (2005) 44, 46, 56
State v. Walsh, 143 Wash.2d 1, 17 P.3d 591 (2001)
State v. Watson, 69 Wash.2d 645, 419 P.2d 789 (1966)
State v. Watt, 160 Wash.2d 626, 160 P.3d 640 (2007)
State v. Williams, 135 Wash.2d 365, 957 P.2d 216 (1998)
State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wash.2d 595, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999) 41, 65
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. Amend. I
U.S. Const. Amend. V
U.S. Const. Amend. VI9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 31, 44, 46, 50, 51, 53, 54, 63, 64
U.S. Const. Amend. XIV9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 29, 31, 37, 42, 44, 46, 50, 53, 54, 60, 63, 64, 65, 66, 72
Wash Const Article I Section 10 10.63.64

Wash. Const. Article I, Section 22
WASHINGTON STATUTES
RCW 9.94A.500
RCW 9.94A.525
RCW 9.94A.58974, 75
RCW 9A.08.020
OTHER AUTHORITIES
"Supreme Court Releases Eyewitness Identification Criteria for Criminal Cases," New Jersey Supreme Court Press Release (July 19, 2012) 35
CrR 3.3
CrR 4.4
ER 401
ER 402
ER 702
RAP 2.5
Weiser, B. "New Jersey Court Issues Guidance for Juries About Reliability of Eyewitnesses," New York Times (July 19, 2012)
WPIC 10.51
ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
1. Mr. Strickland was denied his right to a speedy trial under CrR 3.3.
2. The trial judge erred by continuing the trial beyond Mr. Strickland's speedy trial expiration date.

- 3. The prosecution's mismanagement of its case resulted in delay that violated Mr. Strickland's right to a speedy trial.
- 4. The trial court erred by refusing to dismiss the case under CrR 3.3(h).
- 5. Mr. Strickland's convictions infringed his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 6. The trial judge violated Mr. Strickland's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to present a defense by excluding evidence that was relevant and admissible.
- 7. The trial court erred by excluding the testimony of Dr. Loftus.
- 8. The trial court applied the wrong legal standard in ruling Dr. Loftus's testimony inadmissible.
- 9. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Strickland's continuance motion.
- 10. The evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Strickland was an accomplice to first-degree assault.
- 11. The trial court erred by instructing the jury on accomplice liability.
- 12. The state did not prove that Mr. Strickland acted with knowledge that his actions would promote or facilitate the commission of each assault.
- 13. The prosecution did not prove that Mr. Strickland aided or agreed to aid Kerby in commission of each assault.
- 14. Mr. Strickland's conviction violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to confront witnesses.
- 15. The trial court erred by admitting testimonial hearsay.
- 16. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Strickland's severance motion.
- 17. The trial court erred by failing to instruct jurors that they could not consider Kerby's testimonial statements against Mr. Strickland.
- 18. Mr. Strickland was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
- 19. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to timely consult with Dr. Loftus.

- 20. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to object to testimonial hearsay.
- 21. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to request an instruction prohibiting the jury from considering Kerby's out-of-court statements against Mr. Strickland.
- 22. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to object to instructions suggesting Mr. Strickland could be convicted as an accomplice.
- 23. Judge Godfrey violated the appearance of fairness doctrine.
- 24. Judge Godfrey provided "some evidence" of his own potential bias.
- 25. Judge Godfrey should not have characterized proffered defense testimony as "nonsense."
- 26. Judge Godfrey should not have implied that defense counsel was fabricating a "litany" of issues in order to manipulate the court into severing Mr. Strickland's case from Kerby's.
- 27. Judge Godfrey should not have characterized defense counsel's polite request for permission to move an easel as "foolish" in the presence of the jury.
- 28. The trial court violated Mr. Strickland's First, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment right to an open and public trial.
- 29. The trial court violated Mr. Strickland's right to an open and public trial under Wash. Const. Article I. Sections 10 and 22.
- 30. The trial court violated the constitutional requirement of an open and public trial by responding to a jury question in chambers.
- 31. The trial court violated Mr. Strickland's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel by responding to a jury question without consulting counsel in advance.
- 32. The accomplice liability statute is unconstitutionally overbroad.
- 33. Mr. Strickland was convicted through operation of a statute that is unconstitutionally overbroad.

- 34. The trial judge erred by giving Instruction No. 14, which defined accomplice liability to include mere advocacy, in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 35. The trial court failed to properly determine Mr. Strickland's criminal history and offender score.
- 36. The trial court erred by sentencing Mr. Strickland with an offender score of 8.
- 37. The trial court erred by entering Finding of Fact No. 2.3 (Judgment and Sentence).
- 38. The evidence was insufficient to establish that Mr. Strickland had the criminal history listed in Finding No. 2.3.
- 39. The trial court erred by failing to determine whether or not any of Mr. Strickland's prior convictions comprised the same criminal conduct.
- 40. The evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Strickland's 1995 Pierce County juvenile convictions were separate and distinct criminal conduct.
- 41. The evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Strickland's 2000 King County adult convictions were separate and distinct criminal conduct.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 42. CrR 3.3 requires the court to bring an in-custody defendant to trial within 60 days, unless the time for trial is reset pursuant to the rule. Here, the court erroneously continued the case beyond Mr. Strickland's speedy trial expiration date. Did the unwarranted delay violate Mr. Strickland's right to a speedy trial under CrR 3.3?
- 43. An accused person has a constitutional right to present relevant admissible evidence. Here, the trial judge excluded relevant expert testimony that would have helped the jury understand how a witness's fragmented perceptions while intoxicated can become solid but erroneous memories, leading to overstated confidence during testimony. Did the trial judge violate Mr. Strickland's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to present a defense by excluding relevant, admissible evidence?

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