No. 47479

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

> STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

> > v.

JEFFREY A. STRICKLAND, Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE GORDON L. GODFREY, JUDGE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

H. STEWARD MENEFEE Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

Gliald K. BY:

GERALD R. FULLER Chief Criminal Deputy WSBA #5143

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS County Courthouse 102 W. Broadway, Room 102 Montesano, Washington 98563 Telephone: (360) 249-3951

TABLE

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

The Aberdeen Police Department conducted the crime scene investigation. The firearm was never recovered. A partial DNA profile was obtained from shell casings found at the scene. Marianne Clark, a Forensic Scientist, testified at trial that the DNA profiles obtained from defendant Strickland and defendant Kerby were excluded as possible contributors to the partial profile found on the shell casings (RP 516). A down jacket was found in an alley near Mac's Tavern and the off ramp of the Chehalis River Bridge(RP 475-76). Inside the pocket of the jacket investigators found a check from Grays Harbor College payable to defendant Strickland (RP 479-80).

RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

There was no violation CrR 3.3 (Response to Assignment of Error 1-4).

There was no violation CrR 3.3. On March 30, 2011, the State filed a Motion for Good Cause Continuance (CP 32-34). This was supported by the Declaration of Gerald R. Fuller regarding the necessity of completing the analysis of evidence that was submitted to the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory. A hearing was held on April 4, 2011, in which the State provided further evidence concerning a reasonable time for the completion of the analysis by the crime lab (RP 4/4/11 p 3). The State outlined the evidence that needed to be analyzed (RP 4/4/11 page 5-6). Following argument, the trial court found good cause for continuance and set the trial date for June 28, 2011 (RP 4/4/11 pages 13-14). At the time of the hearing neither defendant offered any explanation concerning how he might be prejudiced by this continuance. There has yet to be any explanation of prejudice suffered by either defendant.

CrR 3.3(f)(2) provides as follows:

Motion by the Court or party. On motion of the Court or party, the Court may continue the trial date to a specified date when such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his of her defense. The motion must be made before the time for trial has expired. The Court must state on the record or in writing the reasons for the continuance...

The decision to grant a continuance rests in the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent of manifest abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs only if the discretion is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. <u>State v. Nguyen</u>, 131 Wn.App. 815, 129 P.3d 821 (2006). The trial court commits an abuse of discretion only if it can be said that the decision was manifestly unreasonable. <u>State v. Woods</u>, 143 Wn. 2d 561, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001).

In the case at hand, the trial court had a valid reason for granting the continuance. Based on the evidence the judge had at the time, he knew that this evidence might be helpful to the State or, on the other hand, might provide exculpatory evidence to the defendant. He said so on the record (RP 4/4/11, P 12-14). In fact, the DNA examination excluded both the defendant and Kerby as the source of the profile found on shell casings at the scene.

In <u>Woods</u>, <u>supra</u>, counsel for the defendant moved for a continuance over the defendant's objection in order to complete scientific testing of the evidence. The court in <u>Woods</u> found that it was not in abuse of discretion for the trial court to grant that request. <u>Woods</u>, <u>supra</u>, 143 Wn.2d at P 580. Why should the result be any different when a request for continuance is made, on the same basis, by the State?

Despite the unsubstantiated allegations of the defendant, there is nothing in the record to support a claim of governmental mismanagement. Furthermore, to this date, the defendant has not alleged that he was prejudiced in any way in the presentation of his defense by the continuance of the trial date.

This assignment of error must be denied.

The trial court properly denied the defendant's Motion for Severance. (Response to Assignments of Error 14-17).

1) The state may introduce out-of-court statements of a defendant as governed by CrR 4.4(c).

In <u>U.S. v. Bruton</u> 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968) the United States Supreme Court held that the use, in a joint trial, of a co-defendant's out-of-court statements implicating the other defendant violates of the defendant's right to confront witnesses under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Stated in another way, admission of a codefendant's extrajudicial statement that inculpates the other defendant violates that defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation if a defendant does not have the ability to cross examine the co-defendant who made the out-of-court statement. <u>Lee v. Illinois</u>, 476 U.S. 530, 106 S.Ct. 2056 (1986).

These principles have been incorporated into CrR 4.4 (c):

Severance of defendants.

 A defendant's motion for severance on the ground that an out-of-court statement of a co-defendant referring to him is inadmissible against him shall be granted unless:

 The prosecuting attorney elects not to offer statement in the case in chief: or
 Deletion of all references to the moving defendant will eliminate any prejudice to him from the admission of the statement.

The Washington courts have applied the principles of <u>Bruton</u> when interpreting CrR 4.4(c). Severance is required only where a non testifying co-defendant's out-of-court statement refers to the defendant and is used by the State. <u>State v. Cotten</u>, 75 Wn.App 669, 690-91, 879 P.2d 971 (1004). <u>Bruton</u> requires severance only when the out-of-court statements of the co-defendant expressly, or by direct inference from the statement incriminate the co-defendant. <u>State v. Campbell</u>, 78 Wn.App. 813, 819-20, 901 P.2d 1050 (1995). Stated another way, a severance is required only when a non testifying co-defendant's out-of-court statements refer to the defendant and are used by the State. <u>State v. Melton</u>, 63 Wn.App. 63, 67, 817 P.2d 1413 (1991) review denied 118 Wn.2d 1016, 827 P.2d 1011 (1992). (Reference to non-testifying co-defendant was redacted).

In <u>Cotten</u>, witnesses testified concerning out-of-court statements of Cotten's co-defendant, Baldassari. Those statements were admissible because the court determined that none of the testimony concerned any out-of-court statements of Baldassari which "...implicated, named, or even acknowledged the existence of Cotten as an accomplice." <u>Cotten</u>, 75 Wn.App. at page 691.

The following language from <u>Cotten</u> is helpful to understand the principles involved. <u>Cotten</u> 75 Wn.App. At page 691:

The only way in which <u>Cotten</u> is implicated by the out-of-court statements is through linkage with other evidence presented by the state. The fact that the state links a nontestifying co-defendant's confession to other evidence to the defendant's complicity in the crime is not, however, a sufficient reason to exclude the testimony under <u>Bruton</u> ...

Out-of-court statements of a defendant that only implicate a codefendant by inference are outside the scope of <u>Bruton</u>. <u>State v. Medina</u>, 112 Wn.App.40, 49, 48 P.3d 1005 (2002).

The trial court was careful at the pre trial hearing to identify the statements that it was going to allow (RP 4/4/11 pages 10-12). The out-of-court statements of Michael Kerby were introduced through the testimony of Sergeant Art Laur, the detective sergeant who interviewed Kerby. The State was careful to eliminate any reference to co-defendant Strickland. The testimony of Sergeant Laur is set forth below. (RP 579).

- A. I explained to Mr. Kerby that I had been told by transporting officers that he was wished to talk with the detective.
- Q. Did he what did he say to that?
- A. When I told him that, he said that he made a comment that he never saw a gun, or touched one. (RP 579-80).
- A. I asked him if he was aware that two people had been shot at Mac's Tavern.
- Q. What did he say?
- A. He stated that, no, he did not - was not aware of that, but he had heard that the bartender was stating that two shots had been fired, with two different guns, inside the bar.
- Q. Go ahead.
- A. And then he stated that he was standing outside and that as he stood there.
- Q. I am - back up. Did he tell you, I didn't do anything?
- A. Yes. He did. He stated that he saw a tall Mexican man walk by him. He was grabbing his chest and he stated also that he didn't see any blood or any bullet holes or anything.
- Q. Did he say where the man went?
- A. Walked into the bar.
- Q. Did you ask him what he did at that point?
- A. Yes. He stated that he got into his vehicle and drove to Erin Souther's home. (RP 581-582).
- Q. So, at some point you took a break?
- A. Yes, we did.
- Q. And, did you get him something to drink, or?
- A. I left the room and allowed him to sit there solo.
- Q. And when you came back from that break, do you remember Mr. Kerby making a remark?
- A. Mr. Kerby was a little bit agitated at

that point, and he said to me that he didn't pull the trigger. (RP 582)

Q. As part of your questioning, did you ask him to tell him that you would like him to be truthful.

Į

- A. Yes, I did. And at that point there was a change in his demeanor. He actually leaned down, put his hands on his head, and then I asked him if he had a gun in his hands at any point during this incident, and he said at one point he did, but then he got rid of it.
- Q. Go ahead. Did he say anything more?
- A. He said the gun never went off in his hand. He didn't do anything wrong, and if we asked the little Mexican guy, he can't state who actually pulled the trigger.
- Q. I see. And at some point did Mr. Kerby as you if you were in a position to make a deal for him?
- A. Yes, he did. I explained to him I could not negotiate a deal.
- Q. And at some point, then, did you try to clarify when he would have had the gun in his hands?
- A. Yes. I wanted to clarify with him at one point he had the gun in his hands. And at that point he stated to me that there was no gun. The only thing he had was a taser. I then asked him about him changing his story, and he stated that he didn't shoot anybody, and if there was a gun, he got rid of it. (RP 581-583)

CrR 4.4 does not require that the out-of-court statements of

defendant Kerby be redacted to the point where they "eliminate any prejudice" to the defendant. Kerby's admission that he was present and had a taser was certainly prejudicial to the defendant when presented along with other evidence placing the defendant Strickland at the scene with his friend, defendant Kerby. Kerby's statements, however, are only about his conduct. There is no reference of any kind to Strickland. Likewise, it was certainly prejudicial to defendant Strickland to have the jury hear that defendant Kerby denied hearing any shots. Once again, there is no reference of any kind to Strickland.

That being said, the purpose of CrR 4.4(c) is not to eliminate all prejudice to the defendant from the out-of-court statements of a codefendant. The purpose of the rule is to avoid any problem under the Confrontation Clause. The purpose is to avoid the situation where the officer is allowed to testify concerning statements made by defendant Kerby regarding the conduct and statements of defendant Strickland when defendant Strickland cannot cross examine Kerby. There was never a reference to Strickland in Kerby's statements. The court was careful to avoid any testimony that could possibly be a reference to Strickland.

This court is invited to compare the testimony herein to that found in <u>State v. Larry</u>, 108 Wn.App 894, 34 P.3d 241 (2001). In <u>Larry</u>, the court affirmed the introduction even though there were references to the "driver," that the evidence showed to be defendant Larry. <u>State v. Larry</u>, 108 Wn.App. 894, 905, 34 P.3d 241 (2001). Likewise, this is not a case in which the written statement is admitted with the defendant's name simply deleted. <u>Gray v. Maryland</u>, 523 U.S. 185, 118 S.Ct. 1151 (1998). The testimony of Sgt. Laur concerning Kerby's confession was linked to other evidence in the case. This is not sufficient to support a severance or to show a Confrontation Clause violation. <u>Cotten, supra</u>, 75 Wn.App. at page 691.

No limiting instruction was requested. In any event, there was no necessity for a limiting instruction. The purpose of the limiting instruction is to insure that any possible reference to the defendant in the co-defendant's confession (e.g., "me and a few other guys," <u>Larry</u>, <u>supra</u>, at p 903) is not considered as evidence against the defendant. There was no such reference herein. In fact, the jury was instructed in the language of WPIC 3.03 that each defendant's case was to be considered separately and the verdict as to a particular count or defendant should not effect the verdict on the other defendant or count.

Any alleged error for failure to give limiting instruction is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt on the facts of this case. The test for harmless error is whether, in the mind of the average juror, the prosecution's case would have been "significantly less persuasive" had the proper evidence been excluded. <u>Schneble v. Florida</u>, 405 U.S. 427, 432, 92 Sup. Ct. 1056, 31 L.Ed 2d 340 (1972). A violation of <u>Bruton v. U.S.</u>, <u>supra</u> may be harmless error. <u>U.S. v. Eskridge</u>, 164 F.3d 1042 (7th Cir. 1998).

The courts have set forth several factors that may be used to assist in determining whether error is harmless in a particular case. <u>Delaware v.</u>

Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 Sup. Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674

(1986). As set forth in Eskridge, supra, at P 1044:

The Supreme Court set out several factors to assist in determining whether error is harmless in a particular case. Those factors include: (1) the importance of the witness's testimony in the prosecution's case; (2) whether the testimony was cumulative; (3) the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points; (4) the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted; and (5) the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

The court in <u>Eskridge</u> found harmless error. In <u>Eskridge</u> the trial court allowed introduction of a co-defendant's written statement, implicating <u>Eskridge</u>, but simply eliminated any direct reference to <u>Eskridge</u>, by replacing his name with the word "another." This was an obvious violation of the rule in <u>Bruton</u>. Nevertheless, the court in <u>Eskridge</u>, found using the <u>Van Arsdall</u> analysis, that introduction of the statement was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Similarly, in <u>Fogg v. Phelps</u>, 579 F.Supp. 2d 590 (2008). The reviewing court found that it was error to allow a witness to testify at trial concerning conversations the witness had with a co-defendant when the out-of-court statements of the co-defendant clearly implicated defendant Fogg. The court in <u>Fogg</u>, held, however, that it was not an abuse of discretion for the state court to determine that the violation was harmless error.

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